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Our mission

The world in which the Bank Workers Charity (BWC) operates is always changing. We have continued 
this year and will continue to strive to positively impact our beneficiaries whose challenges can be 
identified by some of the following factors:-

We exist to support the health and wellbeing of the banking community.

BWC is the only occupational benevolent fund for all current and former bank employees working in the 
UK, retirees and their families. Each year we help thousands of people through the provision of 
information, advice, expert support services and, in some cases, financial assistance. We are 
fully-committed to providing continued support to all sectors of the banking community, developing the 
areas in which we assist, and both increasing and demonstrating the impact we make while fulfilling our 
charitable objectives.

The needs of members of our community are changing. The “banking community” that we serve 
reflects the impacts being seen in the UK generally; notably:

An ageing population, with increasing frailty and multiple conditions (across both physical and mental 
ill health).  

Longer lives meaning a rise in caring responsibilities amongst spouses and children.

Loneliness as a rising challenge for social wellbeing, particularly amongst the 16-24 age group.

A growth in mental health issues amongst young people, including a substantial increase in self-harm. 

The importance of prevention is recognised, and more people are seeking help to maintain their own 
wellbeing. 
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There are rising “unmet” needs as a result of external factors. Pressures on statutory health and 
social services mean that waiting times for services are lengthening, and thresholds for receiving 
care are rising. There are increasing issues around financial and mental wellbeing due to the impact 
of benefit changes and job insecurities.  

There are specific needs emerging in several areas. These include the nature of work and career; 
financial planning due to job change; gambling and digital addictions; caring responsibilities; support 
for disabled people; autism; support for children and young people.

The banking sector itself is changing. Many banks are extending their service reach, and/or 
reconsidering their footprint and models; and building societies are becoming indistinguishable from 
banks.  New banking providers are entering the market. There is also a rise in general stressors in the 
sector – including high street closures and workforce reductions, the UK’s relationship with Europe, 
and growing regulation.

Patterns of work are changing. Employees no longer seek or expect a “job for life”, even in the 
banking sector.  This has important implications for how BWC works. Our remit is to support not 
only current bank employees and their families, but also past employees and retirees. These latter 
groups are the hardest to stay visible to and engage with. New patterns of work mean that the 
proportion of “former employees” is rising sharply. Pensioner societies are also in decline and 
becoming less e�ective for  BWC  as an engagement route to retirees.

-

-

-

-

-

“ ”

Page 1 



Summary achievements in 2018-19

We continue to help more bank workers, former bank workers, retirees and their families with their 
financial, physical, mental and social wellbeing than ever before.
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At a total of 142,902 we have delivered 32,423 more interventions in 2018/19 than in the previous 
year (2017/18: 110,479) providing online and telephone advice, support services and financial help.

We have broadened our access channels with the introduction of Live Chat, an online text 
communication service, and which we continue to develop.

We have managed this significant increase in activity and continued to provide a very high level of 
client satisfaction. 90% of our clients have told us they would recommend us to a friend or colleague, 
for us this evidences the nature of their views regarding the information and support they received.

We paid out more than £1m (cash in year) in grants helping 1,188 clients with direct financial 
assistance.

Additionally, we sourced almost £0.4m in extra cash for our clients in relation to welfare benefits and 
external grants. In total therefore, taking into account the money paid out directly in cash grants 
above, we delivered £1.4m in real cash terms to our clients.

Our awareness campaigns have reached over 33,393 people using a variety of methods from digital 
to face to face, capturing 34% more people than the previous year.

We have continued to expand our social investment footprint and have now committed £1.25m 
which is  positively impacting the provision of quality care for the elderly and for looked after 
children, supporting the prevention and relief of more common mental health issues and providing 
quicker and more cost e�ective treatment for people with severe intestinal infections.

“

A former bank worker commented this year:

BWC have been superb, my case handler, has gone above 
and beyond and showed real empathy to me in what’s been 
a very dark period of my life. I honestly couldn’t have asked 
for a better service and I genuinely thank you for all your 
help and support.

“

“

142,902
The number of interventions

delivered in 2018-19

90%
The number of people we

supported who would
recommend BWC 

33,393
The number of people

our awareness campaigns
have reached
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Objectives and activities
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We, the Trustees of BWC, (who are also directors for the purposes of the Companies Act) present our 
annual report, together with the audited financial statements, for the year ended 31 March 2019.

We confirm that the report and financial statements comply with the requirements of our governing 
document and current statutory reporting, particularly the provisions of the Statement of 
Recommended Practice (SORP 2015) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 
the relevant UK and Republic of Ireland Financial Reporting Standard - FRS 102. Since the company 
qualifies as small under section 383, we are not required to produce the strategic report required of 
medium and large companies under the Companies Act 2006.

BWC exists to support the health and wellbeing of the banking community which we have done for over 
135 years. Our broad range of support is designed to meet the wellbeing needs of current and former 
bank workers and also our large community of pensioners, whether those needs be financial, physical, 
mental or social. Our aim is to continue to have a significant positive impact upon the lives of our 
beneficiaries in part through a long-term and valued strategic partnership with UK banks. We wish to 
provide the best research-based services and support that is valued, cost-e�ective and impactful in 
meeting the requirements of current and former bank workers and retirees in a changing society and 
environment.

Our history and legal objects

The Bank Clerk's Orphanage was established in 1883 by a group of bankers who set out to support the 
children of bank clerks who were ill or who had died. By 1963 we changed our name to the Bank Clerks’ 
Orphans’ Fund. Over 1,000 children were in our care and over 66,000 bank employees provided us with 
the financial support to deliver this activity. By the 1980s, fewer children needed our help. However, 
another charity, the Bankers Beneficent Society, was witnessing high levels of demand but had few 
financial resources. As a consequence the two charities merged to create the Bankers Benevolent Fund 
in 1986.

From 2011 we commenced delivery of a strategy to work in partnership with sector-leading charities 
allowing us to increase the number of people we supported and the quality of the services we o�ered. 
The first organisations to partner with us were Turn2Us, the National Autistic Society and Leonard 
Cheshire. To complement this change and to better reflect the support we deliver we rebranded as the 
Bank Workers Charity and that is who we are today working with 8 partner organisations and supporting 
707 clients in 2018/19 through these partnerships.

Our legal objects are:

We interpret these objects broadly as the relief of financial hardship, ill health and disability, and 
advancement of wellbeing amongst our beneficiaries in two key groups – working families and retirees 
or former bank workers.

The prevention and relief of poverty amongst bank employees, their families, children and 
dependents

The advancement of health amongst bank employees, their families, children and dependents

The advancement of education amongst the children of bank employees
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Public benefit
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Charities have a duty under section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to the Charity 
Commission’s general guidance on public benefit. We believe that our objects fulfil the requirements for 
demonstrating public benefit and that the beneficiaries we aim to assist are clear, identifiable, and related 
to these objects. We make every e�ort to ensure that all potential beneficiaries in poverty have access 
to our services. We maintain links with other charities, the banks’ wellbeing networks and bank pensioner 
associations to provide points of contact to those who need help.

Charitable activity

One of the ways in which we measure our activity is through the totality of interventions we deliver. 
These include users of our website who thoroughly review our guides, complete actions, plans or 
complete our self-help tools. We also include those who are assessed and supported through our 
helpline, receive financial support from us or indeed are supported by our partner organisations. The 
expansion of those activities over the last three years is outlined below.

Note: Total interventions comprise visitors to our website who for a measurable period use guides and/or online 

tools, clients who benefit from our advice, cash grants, and/or partner referrals and bank employees receiving 

support in the workplace.

Achievements and performance

Client feedback on support services:

I have found the support received from Anxiety UK to be 
exemplary. From the initial contact with someone on the 
phone to the assessment, then finally the referral to the 
person I am seeing for CBT. It has all been a very positive, life 
changing experience. I would 100% recommend both BWC 
and Anxiety UK to anyone struggling with their mental 
health. I only wish I'd done it sooner. Thank you!

“

“

Total interventions

N
o

. o
f 

in
te

rv
en

ti
o

ns 200,000

150,000

100,000

50,000
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Total number of interventions

Page 4



Once again, in the past year we helped more bank and former bank workers, retirees and their families 
with their financial, physical, mental and social wellbeing needs than ever before. A total of 142,902 
interventions (2017/18: 110,479) were provided, an increase of 29% on our previous year’s achievement. 
This was largely due to the continued development and success of our digital activities as we have 
shifted to a multi-channel approach to meet the needs of clients who do not utilise the traditional helpline 
route.

All client enquiries are assessed by one of our o�ce based client advisers or visiting case workers and 
then support is provided either by way of advice, financial assistance and/or the provision of our partner 
services. As the graph above shows there was a significant increase in the level of service interventions 
in 2018/19, up by 2,335, a 76% increase on 2017/18, and this reflects: 
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the fact we are able to o�er a greater number of services to our clients but also, and possibly more 
importantly, 

our clients’ needs have become increasingly more complex so that some may now need support and 
assistance in a number of di�erent areas rather than just one. This is indeed a growing trend and 
means our client advisers may spend some time with our clients in order to ensure they receive the 
proper support and advice they require.

How we support people

We have also been able to o�er more home visits for those clients requiring a more in-depth assessment 
of their needs as a result of employing two additional visiting caseworkers part way through the 
year. This has resulted in the number of home visits increasing from 115 in 2017/18 to 173 in 2018/19.

In total we invested £4m into charitable activities (2017/18: £3.8m) including £1m of cash grants (2017/18: 
£0.8m), a 32% increase in financial support payments made this year and in the development and 
delivery of our charitable activities to our beneficiaries.
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Summary of impact and satisfaction
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Client impact – a case study of a retired bank worker

Impact and satisfaction survey

Rosemary’s daughter, Olivia, works for a bank and attended 
a BWC presentation. Olivia urged Rosemary, a retired bank 
worker herself, to call for support as she had worked in 
banking for 16 years. Rosemary’s husband, Jack had been 
diagnosed with Parkinson’s, osteoporosis and scoliosis. 
Rosemary is the full time carer and found it increasingly 
di�cult to lift her husband in and out of the bath. Rosemary 
called our helpline and, following a discussion with one of 
our client advisers, a referral was made to one of our visiting

caseworkers for support.  Although Rosemary had no savings, her income was slightly above the income 
threshold for a local authority Disabled Facilities Grant. Rosemary and her husband found themselves in 
a circumstance that many people do; a pension income barely above the state minimum and without the 
resources to make the adaptations they need to remain living independently for as long as possible.

Our visiting caseworker made a referral to the OT Practice, a BWC 
partner organisation that provides home assessments in all areas of 
daily life including getting in and out of bed or chairs. They also make 
recommendations for aids such as scooters, wheelchairs or ramps, 
where appropriate. Following a home assessment, the OT Practice 
provided a report recommending a wet room be installed for Rosemary and Jack to alleviate their 
current situation. BWC provided a grant towards the adaptation of the bathroom to a wet room. 
Following the installation of the wet room, our visiting caseworker went to visit Rosemary and Jack to 
ensure they were happy with the adaptations. Rosemary thanked BWC and stated that the wet room has 
not only improved their quality of life, but lessened the burden for Rosemary as a carer in lifting Jack in 
and out of the bath. They continue to live independently.

We continue to conduct research in an attempt to measure the e�ectiveness and organisational 
activities of the support we provide. The following results represent a continued very high level of 
satisfaction with BWC’s services, consistent with that delieverd in 2017/18, on an increased sample.

97%

say response was prompt

99% 88% 90%

say sta� were friendly would recommend BWC 
services

say advice helped resolve 
problem

Page 6



We also continue to conduct our regular survey with our clients to assess the impact of our support, 
which showed some significant increases in satisfaction levels from the previous year:
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Service partnership

A current bank worker, who received a referral from BWC to one of our partners 
noted:

We continued to work with our partner organisations, Leonard Cheshire, Relate, Anxiety UK, the National 
Autistic Society, Law Express, Step Change and the OT Practice on a broad range of services and, as a 
result, were able to provide additional support assistance to 707 people, an increase of 13% on last year. 

Rosemary’s daughter, Olivia, works for a bank and attended 
a BWC presentation. Olivia urged Rosemary, a retired bank 
worker herself, to call for support as she had worked in 
banking for 16 years. Rosemary’s husband, Jack had been 
diagnosed with Parkinson’s, osteoporosis and scoliosis. 
Rosemary is the full time carer and found it increasingly 
di�cult to lift her husband in and out of the bath. Rosemary 
called our helpline and, following a discussion with one of 
our client advisers, a referral was made to one of our visiting                                                                

caseworkers for support.  Although Rosemary had no savings, her income was slightly above the income 
threshold for a local authority Disabled Facilities Grant. Rosemary and her husband found themselves in 
a circumstance that many people do; a pension income barely above the state minimum and without the 
resources to make the adaptations they need to remain living independently for as long as possible.                                                

Our visiting caseworker made a referral to the OT Practice, a BWC 
partner organisation that provides home assessments in all areas of 
daily life including getting in and out of bed or chairs. They also make 
recommendations for aids such as scooters, wheelchairs or ramps, 
where appropriate. Following a home assessment, the OT Practice 
provided a report recommending a wet room be installed for Rosemary and Jack to alleviate their 
current situation. BWC provided a grant towards the adaptation of the bathroom to a wet room. 
Following the installation of the wet room, our visiting caseworker went to visit Rosemary and Jack to 
ensure they were happy with the adaptations. Rosemary thanked BWC and stated that the wet room has 
not only improved their quality of life, but lessened the burden for Rosemary as a carer in lifting Jack in 
and out of the bath. They continue to live independently.                                                                      

Did you feel better able to 
deal with things in the future 
as a result of BWC support?

Did you feel less stressed as 
a result of BWC support?

Did you feel better able to 
manage your health symptoms 

as a result of BWC support?

A current bank worker shared with us this year:

I am truly grateful for their help and support because this has enabled me to 
turn my life around. 

“ ”

“

I am very pleased with the professional way my Relate 
counsellor has structured each session but also given me the 
freedom to share my innermost feelings. I'm amazed how 
the techniques have been so e�ective. This has been a 
positive experience where I have learnt ways to help myself 
cope with my relationship and I am very grateful.

“

“
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Using our service partners to assist a current bank worker – case study

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Joy is a current bank worker with 8 years’ service. Her husband, Peter was killed in a road tra�c 
accident. They have a 6 year old son, Matthew. Joy was away from work attempting to manage the 
impact of her bereavement when she approached BWC. Joy explained in addition to her grief she 
also has chronic pain as a result of an emergency procedure during childbirth and is a type 1 diabetic. 
She was barely making ends meet as Peter’s account was emptied and put towards his debts. Joy 
was worried about her financial situation now that she has lost Peter. Following a discussion with one 
of our client adviser’s she completed an application form with supporting evidence. BWC funded 6 
sessions of bereavement counselling and, along with a grant from the government, BWC also helped 
toward funeral costs. Additionally, we made a referral to StepChange, one of our partner charities 
who specialise in debt management, to support Joy with managing her debts. The support provided 
helped in a crisis situation and improved her comfort and wellbeing. Joy said “Without your help I 
would have sunk. I really can’t thank you enough for everything that you’ve done for me. It came at 
the right time.” 

Financial help

We aim to direct our help towards those people who have the greatest unmet need and who are unable 
to help themselves. The provision of help includes an assessment of their actual needs in conjunction with 
their financial circumstances and the client applicant must have su�ered some unforeseen event outside 
of their control which has impacted negatively on their circumstances such that they can be described 
as “in need”.

We paid out £1m (2017/18: £0.8m) on financial grants helping 1,188 clients with direct financial assistance. 
General living expenses are the most common form of one-o� grant, for various situations including 
where people are awaiting welfare benefit decisions or appeals, have a short-term illness resulting in a 
lack of regular income, or experience a life event where they need financial stability while they seek 
support services to help with non-financial issues. Additionally, we made cash grants to beneficiaries of 
RBS PeopleCharity (RBSPC) and, in particular, to maintain the commitment to provide annual winter fuel 
allowances. Such grants ensure beneficiaries are receiving help in a timely manner, gives them the 
confidence to use their heating and stay healthy at winter time and helps alleviate “fuel poverty” which 
is one of the issues faced by the community we support.

In addition to the above, the Services and Grants team secured a further £394,560 of income for our 
clients since 1 April 2018 (2017/18: £183,000). This comprised welfare benefits/back payments of 
£349,630 and external grants of £44,930.

In total therefore we delivered £1.4m in cash terms for our clients.

A retiree whom we have supported commented:

Leonard Cheshire were very friendly, felt very easy to talk and open up. Felt like 
I knew the person for  some time hence why it made the conversation to take 
place very easy and stress free.

“ ”

Page 8



Workplace wellbeing
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Over the course of 2018/19 we delivered 29 wellbeing-themed webinars or onsite presentations in UK 
banks. These included banks where we have established new working partnerships to advance our 
wellbeing and awareness campaign. 

The development of a Digital Mental Health Line Manager Training (MHLMT) programme was completed 
during this year in partnership with MIND and so far sold into two banks, while discussions continued with 
a third bank to explore its use with their managers. 

We also provide consultancy support to banks, whereby we help to shape their wellbeing approach. We 
continue to develop a programme of wellbeing o�erings that included webinars, face-to-face and digital 
mental health training for line managers and the Thrive App, a self help mental health application 
available on smart devices. Three new wellbeing videos were created (Sleep, Mindfulness and Digital 
Detox) and distributed to UK banks. All of our work is in the process of being incorporated into our Bank 
Resource Centre, which is available to registered users.

Thought leadership

Our thought leadership agenda was advanced during the 
year through the production of a white paper on Digital 
Wellbeing and with the publication of five articles in HR 
journals (including HRZone) and the financial sector media 
(Financial News and Chartered Banker). Additionally, in 
partnership with Robertson Cooper, we produced a piece 
of banking sector-focused research called Creating Well 
Workplaces, which also became a white paper.

This was well received and resulted in an approach from one of the major UK banks’ global wellbeing 
team, who found it helpful in developing their own wellbeing strategy. We continue to present at many 
Wellbeing events, including the Work 2.0 conference and City HR wellbeing event, where we explored 
the role of the line manager. At the Good Day at Work event, the London Banks Health and Safety Forum 
and the Financial Workplace Conference we presented the findings of Creating Well Workplaces. BWC 
is also an active member of Business in the Community and collaborated to raise awareness of the need 
for businesses to address the impact of domestic violence in the workplace.

BWC is seen as both credible and knowledgeable. Our “thought leadership” pieces have been 
well-received and are respected, and there is some appetite for wider advice/best practice sharing which 
forms part of our 2019/20 enabling plans.
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Providing timely support to a couple who are retired bank workers 
– a case study
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Marian and Anthony are retired bank workers with 44 years’ service between them. Marian contacted 
BWC following an article in one of the bank pensioner association magazines. Marian and Anthony 
had a number of health concerns. They were currently receiving care support provided by the local 
authority, but were not in receipt of any disability benefits. Following a discussion with one of our 
client advisers, a referral was made to one of our visiting caseworkers for support.  

Following a further discussion with one of our visiting caseworkers it was determined that Marian and 
Anthony may be entitled to a disability benefit, which is not means tested i.e. an attendance 
allowance. An attendance allowance is a disability benefit for people aged 65 and over living with a 
mental or physical disability who also have care needs. 

The visiting caseworker arranged a home visit to support them with a possible claim. During the 
home visit the visiting caseworker supported both Marian and Anthony to complete the attendance 
allowance form, including medical and supplementary evidence to support the claim. Both Marian 
and Anthony are now in receipt of an attendance allowance which has provided the financial 
flexibility for them to continue living in their own home and which has also improved their quality of 
life.

Launching new products and services

In pursuit of our aim to reach more people, to o�er a wider range of support and to be responsive to the 
ever changing needs of the banking community we are continually looking for ways of delivering our 
support. The following additions to our service and trial activities have been undertaken during the 
2018/19 financial year.

Live Chat 

Live Chat launched on a limited number of BWC web pages on 1 August 2018, with stated service hours 
mirroring those of the helpline (9am-5pm Mon-Fri). A message service is available outside these times. 
The service was extended in November 2018 leading to a significant and continuing upturn in client 
usage. 

By the end of the pilot period in February 
2019, our Services & Grants team had 
conducted 119 Live Chat sessions with bank 
workers. Between November and February 
an average of 6 bank workers a week used 
the channel. Over 50 ‘messages’ were 
received via the Live Chat channel, 
predominantly from people using the site 
outside operational hours. This learning will 
help us complete our operational hours 
review in 2019/20. We continue to o�er Live 
Chat as part of our core business activity.Live chat

sessions
Bank workers 

a week
Messages 
received

50+6119
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A current bank worker commented:

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Pre-retirement service

In July 2018 we provided 256 Clydesdale Bank  employees (aged between 50 and 65) with a license to 
use the LaterLife online pre-retirement course for six months. The pilot was extended to include a small 
number of RBS employees approaching retirement. Participants were surveyed before the online course 
began (105 responses were received) and once the pilot finished (85 responses were received). 

The evaluation of the programme by responding participants has demonstrated to us:

Thrive: Mental wellbeing

In July 2018 we began to work further with Thrive, an application provider using clinically proven 
techniques to manage mental health, through the delivery of a preventative app and integrated 
counselling service. The trial will conclude in July 2019. We have been recommending the online app to 
helpline callers both as a preventative measure and as a means to access Thrive’s therapy service.  

As at 31 March 2019, 375 accounts had been opened with Thrive, and the helpline had made 441 referrals 
to the app. To increase numbers and fully utilise the licences acquired we have run three specific 
marketing campaigns and it is hoped that this additional impetus and support from our marketing team 
will create greater benefit for our beneficiaries. We will continue to learn from this activity as we reshape 
our Mental Health o�er in 2019/20.

We are pleased with the pilot outcomes and we will be continuing to o�er this programme in the 
forthcoming year.

Easy to talk to, very helpful. The best thing I did was make 
contact with BWC. The help provided has helped turn things 
round for me. I can’t thank you enough.

“ “

82%

felt more confident about their 
retirement following the course

66%

confirmed they would be taking action 
as a result of participating in the course
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Looking ahead

Our strategy for 2019-22
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The world in which BWC operates is always changing and whilst we have achieved much over the past 
couple of years, we continually remind ourselves that our mission is to o�er services which genuinely 
meet the wellbeing needs of the banking community. This community is facing a number of challenges 
which have a big impact on their lives. To meet them we need to be ever responsive to their changing 
needs. 

Having looked at our environment, and in light of our determination to fulfil our overall aim, we have set 
five strategic goals for the 3 years to 2022.

To fulfil these strategic goals we will also focus on the two enabling goals:

2019/22
Strategic

Goals

Expose the Hidden Gem
We will continue to drive awareness of our o�er 
so that those we seek to serve are able to access 
us when they need us.

Reaching Out
We will support more people by widening the 
range of banks we work with and by extending 
our reach to building societies.

There when Needed
Our services, and the support we commission, will 
become easier to access, at times and in ways 
more convenient for our clients.

Responsive and Complementary
We will become ever more responsive to the 
changing needs of the banking community, 
o�ering a range of support that is relevant to
emerging needs and complements the support
available from other sources.

Growing Influence
We will become known as a Health & Wellbeing 
(HWB) expert within the banking sector, 
increasingly influential in banking organisations’ 
thinking about HWB.

Our people
We will ensure that all our sta� are supported and 
enabled to deliver the outcomes we expect of 
them in delivering our strategic goals.

Our Resources
We will manage our financial resources in line with 
agreed investment objectives to deliver net income to 
support delivery of our strategic goals.
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As part of developing these strategic goals we have identified the following as the factors to which we 
must respond and these are highlighted at the beginning of this report:

We are confident that, by pursuing the goals set out above, we will continue to support the health and 
wellbeing of the banking community in the most e�ective way possible over the coming years.

Bank Workers Charity
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The needs of the members of our community are changing, notably:

An ageing population, with increasing frailty and multiple conditions (across both physical and mental 
ill health).  

Longer lives meaning a rise in caring responsibilities amongst spouses and children.

Loneliness as a rising challenge for social wellbeing, particularly amongst the 16-24 age group.

A growth in mental health issues amongst young people, including a substantial increase in self-harm. 

The importance of prevention is recognised, and more people are seeking help to maintain their own 
wellbeing. 

-

-

-

-

-

There are rising “unmet” needs as a result of external factors. Pressures on statutory health and 
social services mean that waiting times for services are lengthening, and thresholds for receiving 
care are rising. There are increasing issues around financial and mental wellbeing due to the impact 
of benefit changes and job insecurities.  

There are specific needs emerging in several areas. These include the nature of work and career; 
financial planning due to job change; gambling and digital addictions; caring responsibilities; support 
for disabled people; autism; support for children and young people.

Patterns of work are also changing. Employees no longer seek or expect a “job for life”, even in the 
banking sector. 

Therefore we must keep innovating. There is an increasing expectation that information and services 
be accessible in new ways e.g. digital interaction and for non-digital extended hours of the day. 

BWC is seen as both credible and knowledgeable. Our existing “thought leadership” articles have 
been well received and are respected and there is some appetite for best practice sharing, which 
forms part of our 2019/20 enabling plans. This opens up the potential opportunity for us to establish 
a more provocative, challenging and advisory role in the future.

The banking sector itself is changing. Many banks are extending their service reach, and/or 
reconsidering their footprint and models; and many building societies are becoming 
indistinguishable from banks.  New banking providers are entering the market. There is also a rise in 
general stressors in the sector – including high street closures and workforce reductions, the UK’s 
relationship with Europe, and more pressures from regulation.
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Financial review

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out on pages 29 to 59. These were 
prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out on pages 33 to 39.

Regular income for the year was £2.2m compared to £1.7m in the prior year. The principal reason for the 
increase of £0.5m in the current year is due to additional investment income arising from the transition 
of a portfolio from one fund manager to another, the timing of which has created a positive impact on 
the fund’s income stream. 

Extraordinary income for the current year includes the net receipt of £0.4m of funds as adjusted for the 
fair value of liabilities to beneficiaries. This income was received by way of a Deed of Donation from the 
Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund (BOBF) whereby BWC have agreed to undertake the payment of 
future grant commitments on BOBF’s behalf. Whilst these funds are not su�ciently extraordinary they 
have been disclosed as such to the extent they are deemed to be a one-o� receipt for the Charity.

BWC relies substantially on investment returns to support its activities. We have adopted a total return 
investment strategy seeking a return from a combination of capital growth and income. This allows us to 
plan for longer-term service delivery activity by smoothing out the volatility associated with investment 
returns (see investment policy below).

Our 10 year total return strategy has delivered an average net total return of 6.3% over the past six years. 
This compares favourably to a ten-year average total return target of 6.25%. Over the course of 2018/19, 
stock markets remained unsettled as a result of political and economic uncertainties in the UK and 
globally. Despite these market conditions, we achieved net investment gains of £1.8m (2017/18: £0.5m).

We are continually grateful to those who donate to our cause and people who remember us in their wills. 
This year, income from legacies was £63.5k (2017/18: £82.5k).

We are also grateful to those banks that made corporate donations of £30.0k (2017/18: £30.7k). We plan 
to continue to strengthen the work we do with banks, particularly extending the focus to generate 
outcomes that their sta�, retirees and dependents value. We always welcome donations from the 
banking community to help us enhance the impact to our beneficiaries.

We do not actively raise funds from outside the banking community.

During the financial year, we have made a total drawdown of £3.9m (2017/18: £3.9m) from the 
investment portfolio. This has enabled us to deliver our grants and services to our client community and 
therefore support our charitable objectives. We have also implemented a leveraging facility with a long 
term objective of using it for additional liquidity fixed at a rate of 1.5% over the overnight LIBOR and to 
take advantage of future stock market dysfunction. 

At 31 March 2019, the value of our total reserves was £84.3m (2017/18: £84.5m).
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Policies

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Risk management

Risk is a necessary component of BWC’s business. The management of risk is ultimately the responsibility 
of the Board of Trustees and then delegated to the senior management team in each business area. By 
understanding the risks to organisational strategy, day-to-day operations and projects we can better 
meet our objectives and the needs of the banking community.

Trustees, the senior management team and sta� are encouraged to actively consider all risks and 
determine how they can be mitigated, managed or accepted. Risk management does not mean never 
undertaking anything new but encourages adequately assessing and identifying the risks involved in 
doing so. In some cases it will be necessary to take on additional risk to achieve our objectives.

We have put a formal risk management process in place and our annual internal audit programme 
assesses business processes, controls and operational risks. The senior management team monitors risk 
regularly and report to the Audit & Risk committee, who then report to the Board, on a quarterly basis. 
This involves identifying the types of risks BWC faces in the key areas of:

Principal risks

We have identified one of our principal risks to be investment losses arising from volatile stock market 
conditions. Over a sustained period, this would significantly impact our ability to meet our total return 
target and therefore our ability to su�ciently fund our services and deliver on our objects. We have 
mitigated this by diversifying our assets to protect our capital from significant losses during a market 
downturn.

We are also increasingly aware of cyber related threats and have given considerable focus to 
cybersecurity risks which could impact our service delivery, especially given the growing importance of 
our digital support platform. During 2018/19, we achieved an accreditation for Cyber Essential Plus, an 
industry supported scheme to help organisations protect themselves against common internet-borne 
threats. 

To mitigate cyber related risks, we proactively manage our IT infrastructure and information security, and 
we receive regular updates on cybersecurity issues from the senior management team and our own 
nominated Trustee Cyber Security Lead.

We prioritise risks on the basis of potential impact and the likelihood of occurrence, including our 
appetite towards individual risks. We have implemented an active risk management strategy into the 
day-to-day running of BWC based on having the right policies, procedures and controls; embedding a 
structured risk management and compliance framework; challenging the senior management team with 
Trustee scrutiny through the Audit & Risk committee, and internal and external audits of our current 
internal controls. We use this information to prepare for risks arising from a wide range of variables, and 
continually review the strategy so we can implement any new controls we consider necessary.

Financial
Strategic direction
Reputational

HR, legal and statutory
Information communication technology
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Investment policy

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

As Trustees, we have identified one of the principal risks to the Charity to be investment losses arising 
from volatile stock market conditions, hence having a robust, well-monitored and regularly reviewed 
investment policy is of paramount importance.

We formally review our investment policy and investment managers every 3-5 years, by assessing 
market benchmarks and investment manager performance criteria and considering BWC’s strategic 
plan.

The Finance & Investment Committee, supported by an independent investment consultant, regularly 
monitors the performance of the investment managers against agreed performance benchmarks at its 
quarterly meetings. The papers and decisions of the Finance & Investment Committee are circulated to 
the members of the full Board.

The investment policy is set to maintain the group’s long-term capital and returns, allowing for the 
e�ects of inflation, and without taking excessive risk, to achieve real gains in capital growth and 
sustainable income. We have adopted a total return approach to achieve a minimum return of 6.25% 
after fees, averaged over a ten-year cycle. We believe this is a realistic target within a long term horizon.

In the last 12 months, stock markets performed in favour of long term investors despite the ongoing 
uncertainties over Brexit, the trade dispute between the US and China and slowing economic growth in 
emerging markets.

The Finance & Investment Committee periodically explores the options available for further 
diversification of assets and reviews the strategic asset allocation of the group’s investments. This 
enables the Charity to achieve the objective of delivering the required levels of income and capital 
growth from our investments without making significant changes to the asset allocation.

The investment managers actively manage our investment portfolios and work to optimise the returns to 
achieve the total return targets including the long-term preservation of capital values. These targets are 
set and performance measured at least once a year, and are used to drive our annual business plan 
including a three-year strategy and planning cycle of income and expenditure.

Investment managers may allocate the investment portfolio on a discretionary basis. However, we have 
put overall limits in place, mainly in respect of the two main asset classes: equities and fixed income, 
including money market instruments. 

The maximum asset holding is not more than 5% of any individual equity or bond without our consent. 
The reference currency for all investment portfolios is Sterling.

We do not knowingly invest in any company whose activities directly conflict with our objectives. The 
investment portfolio is unconstrained, and no specific ethical restrictions apply, but as Trustees we 
reserve the right to exclude from the portfolio any investments in companies whose representation 
might damage, directly or indirectly, the purposes or reputation of the Charity and the group.
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Social investments

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Since 2013 the Trustees have designated funds from the Charity’s principal unrestricted investment 
portfolio specifically for the purpose of social investment. This has allowed us the opportunity to increase 
our overall social impact whilst achieving a financial return and furthering our objects at the same time .

At 31 March 2019 the amount set aside as designated funds for this purpose was £2m of which £1.25m 
had been committed to specific social investments; a total £0.8m had been drawn down against these 
commitments as at the balance sheet date. The social investment portfolio comprises a mix of direct loan 
and equity investments and investments in funds managed by other organisations. In all instances 
investments are made where the purpose of such investments align with the Charity’s objectives, namely 
the prevention and relief of sickness and poverty and the advancement of health  among current, former 
and retired bank workers and their families. Our policy is to maintain a balanced portfolio of di�erent 
types of investments spread across a range of social impact sectors and balanced between e�ective 
financial returns and social impact.

In the health and wellbeing sector we are positively impacting:

During the course of the year an investment, a 5 year corporate social bond issued by 
Greenwich Leisure Limited, matured and, in addition to receiving a 5 % financial return 
there was also a significant social impact. Greenwich Leisure Limited provides 
accessible high quality community leisure and fitness facilities and services and 
manages over 300 leisure centres in partnership with more than 30 local councils 
across the UK. It employs more than 15,000 sta�, has over 40 million visitors a year and is one of the 
largest social enterprises in the UK. It encourages people to improve their health and happiness by 
leading active lifestyles and so helps to create healthier communities.

The provision of quality care for elderly people and for looked after 
children with high levels of need through our investments in patient 
capital.

The prevention and relief of the more common mental health issues 
through our investment in Thrive.

Quicker and more cost e�ective treatment for people with severe 
intestinal infections through our investment in Enterobiotix.

The provision of a�ordable financial services to those on low incomes.

The measures being taken to reduce the “poverty premium” through 
our investment in Fair by Design.
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The group’s free reserves i.e. unrestricted funds of £41.6m (2017/18: £44.9m), largely comprise 
investments, including some social investments and bank deposits. These investments generate the 
income which sustains the Charity, either wholly or in part, and may be used to help deal e�ectively with 
sudden short term increases in planned expenditure.

As Trustees, we consider that our unrestricted reserves currently have the right balance to maintain 
short and medium term expenditure and we intend to keep it at this level. We periodically review the 
asset allocation, investment strategy and fund manager performance to ensure that we can achieve a 
minimum return of 6.25% after fees, averaged over a ten-year cycle and that we are able to fulfil our 
commitments.

We also hold restricted funds of £39.9m (2017/18: £37m), which can only be spent in accordance with 
the specific wishes of donors. The cost of raising and administering these restricted funds is charged 
against the specific funds.

The restricted funds largely comprise the donation received from the RBSPC which, at 31 March 2019, 
amounted to £39.1m (2017/18: £36.6m). It is held by BWC as a restricted fund for the relief of financial 
need, hardship or distress of people within the beneficial class, that is restricted to employees and former 
employees, and their dependents of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group of companies; any former 
constituent banks of the Royal Bank of Scotland plc (RBS) or National Westminster Bank plc (NatWest) 
and any persons who were employed by a company at the time that such a company was part of the 
group of companies of which NatWest or RBS was a member even though that company may have since 
ceased to be part of that group, and their dependents.

In addition, the restricted reserves include two smaller funds comprising the SE Foundation (SEF) and 
the Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund (BOBF). At 31 March 2019 SEF amounted to £432k (2017/18: 
£361k) and BOBF was £407k (2017/18: Nil). The SEF funds are held as a restricted fund for the objects of 
SEF which are reserved for the relief of persons in conditions of need, hardship or distress who are 
Barclays employees or Barclays retired employees and of any dependents of such Barclays employees 
or Barclays retired employees. The BOBF funds are held as a restricted fund for the benefit of current 
and former employees of Barclays and their families who were either employed outside of the UK or are 
now resident outside the UK. The BOBF Trust Deed states that payments to beneficiaries should be for 
the relief of poverty. At 31 March 2019 there were 10 beneficiaries receiving quarterly payments from this 
fund and this will continue for the remainder of their lives.

The group has two other permanently endowed funds and is the Sole Corporate Trustee of SEF and the 
RBSPC (see section under Structure, Governance and Management below). The endowed funds are 
permanent, meaning that the capital of the funds must be maintained and that income generated from 
them can only be spent on each fund’s charitable objectives.

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Reserves and funds

As Trustees we regularly monitor and review the consolidated reserves to ensure they are su�cient to 
enable BWC and its subsidiaries (the SE Foundation, the RBS PeopleCharity and BWC Enterprises 
Limited, collectively referred to as the “group”) to operate e�ectively in the short and medium term. The 
Finance & Investment Committee reviews the reserves policy and recommends it for full Trustee Board 
ratification. The reserves policy and description of the types of reserves we hold is explained below.
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Structure, management and governance

The RBSPC permanent endowment fund represents the accumulated funds of the Friendly Help Fund 
which amounted to £2.4m at 31 March 2019 (2017/18: £2.2m) and represents the accumulated funds of 
the RBSPC and a restricted fund of £136k at 31 March 2019 (2017/18: £135k) held for the purposes of the 
maintenance of care homes. As the care homes were closed by the former Trustees of RBSPC in 2014 
and before the merger in 2017, the object of the fund is now obsolete. Therefore, BWC has decided to 
temporarily consolidate the restricted fund into the permanent endowment fund, by widening its objects 
to match those of the permanent endowment fund. The object of the RBSPC permanent endowed fund 
is the same as that for the restricted fund outlined above.

These arrangements are in place to maintain the group’s subsidiaries i.e. SEF and RBSPC, for the 
purposes of receiving any future legacies and to hold the permanently endowed funds.

We continue to maintain these levels of reserves by periodically reviewing the performance of the funds 
and investment managers, strategic asset allocation and diversification of portfolios to protect our 
capital from market downturns and inflation so that we continue to maintain our commitment to provide 
help and support to the banking community.

Investment income is the group’s main long-term source of income and is susceptible to market 
fluctuations. The Trustees believe that su�cient income will be generated to fund future budgeted 
expenditure in the short and medium term, although they will embark on income growth activities when 
there is a su�ciently attractive fundraising opportunity. In the longer term, the Trustees also have the 
ability to reduce discretionary grant making and service spending to a level commensurate with available 
reserves, although in the short term the Trustees have agreed to meet the existing commitments and 
demand.

The movements on reserves for the year are reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
activities.

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Governing document

Both the group and the Charity operate under the name BWC. BWC is the working name of the Bankers 
Benevolent Fund, a charitable company limited by guarantee (company registration no. 0019366). BWC 
is a registered charity, governed by articles of association, copies of which may be obtained from the 
Company Secretary. It is exempt from tax on its charitable activities under the provisions of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010.

BWC is the Corporate Trustee of the SE Foundation (SEF) (a registered charity no. 277665) and is Sole 
Corporate Trustee of the RBS PeopleCharity (RBSPC) (CIO registered no. 1154235).

The SEF’s permanently endowed funds of £338k (2017/18: £329K) arose from the merger with SEF and 
part of it remains as a wholly owned subsidiary under the umbrella of the endowment funds. It is held for 
the specific purpose of maintaining the charitable objectives of the fund, namely for current and former 
employees of Barclays Bank and their dependents. The arrangement is in line with the plan to maintain 
SEF for the purpose of receiving any future legacies and to hold the permanently endowed fund.
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Governance structure

BWC is governed by a Board of Trustees (shown on page 24), who are the directors of the company for 
company law purposes and Trustees for charity purposes.

We aim to have representation from each of the major British banks. As Trustees they act in an 
independent capacity from their banks but are an interface to facilitate support and maintain operational 
contacts. At the time of reporting we have 15 Trustees; 7 Trustees are currently employed in banking, 7 
are former bankers and there is 1 non-banker.

At present one fifth of the Trustees retire each year and may be re-elected subject to the Board’s 
approval. The Board meets quarterly and has five standing sub-committees, to whom it delegates 
responsibilities in specific areas:

The senior management team have reported that the Charity is extremely fortunate to have a Board of 
Trustees committed to supporting BWC and who give their time so freely and voluntarily. The table 
below highlights the high attendance levels at the various sub Committees and Board Meetings 
throughout the financial year.

Trustee Board and Sub-Committee Meetings Attendance Record 2018/19

(a) Lillian Boyle assisted with the transition to a new Audit & Risk Chair after retiring from the committee in January 2018

(b) Linda Lawrence has been on sabbatical throughout 2018/19 and is therefore not reported in the table above.

Finance & Investment: to monitor investments and financial performance, and evaluate potential 
social investment opportunities

Clients & Markets: to oversee policies towards grants and to consider new services

Audit & Risk: to monitor internal and external audit processes, compliance and risk management

Remuneration: to review pay and awards

Nominations: to recommend suitable potential candidates to the Board and to maintain succession 
plans for key positions

Trustees Main Board

3/4 3/4 4/4

4/4
4/4

2/4(a) 2/2
4/4

4/4
4/4

4/4
4/4

3/4

3/4
3/4

3/4
4/4
3/4
2/4

4/4
4/4
3/4

4/4

3/4
2/4

2/2
2/2

2/4 2/2

2/2
2/2

2/4

4/4

Dougie Belmore

Lillian Boyle

Lena Breen

Kim Carroll

Rachel Claringbold

Nathalie de Potter

Michael Field

Gary George

Paul Haynes

Beverly Horler

Suzanne Hughes

Shirley Marsh

Maggie Pearson

Tony Ramos

Audit & Risk Clients &
Markets

Sub-Committee Meetings

Finance &
Investment Nominations Remuneration
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Charity Governance Code

Good governance in charities is fundamental to their success. An organisation is best placed to achieve 
its ambitions and aims if it has e�ective governance and leadership structures. As well as ensuring 
e�cient use of resources, and legal and regulatory compliance, it can promote a culture where 
everything, and everyone, works towards fulfilling the charity’s vision.

We recognise that strong governance is crucial in ensuring that we have e�ective strategic direction, and 
to maximise the impact and outcomes of our activities. The Charity Governance Code sets out 
recommended best practice for good governance. We review our own governance in line with its seven 
principles in an e�ort to continuously improve what we o�er the banking community; and develop our 
governance arrangements further where relevant in line with the best practice suggested in the Code.

We are continuing to deliver our transition to full compliance with the Charity Governance Code with our 
Board’s agreement regarding Trustee tenure and a phased transition to our new arrangements being 
enacted in greater detail during 2018/19 and continuing in to 2019/20. Our pace ensures we can retain 
key organisational knowledge at Trustee level and blend the restructure activity to a more appropriately 
sized yet equally proactive Board. 

Bank Workers Charity
Trustees’ Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2019

Trustee appointments

When Trustee vacancies arise we initiate a search process to identify suitable candidates in line with any 
skills gaps identified on the Board. Applicants are provided with the opportunity to discuss their 
appointment with the Chief Executive O�cer. The Nominations Committee reviews potential candidates 
and the chair of the Board interviews them before the Board makes an appointment. The Board may 
co-opt additional members in an advisory capacity. Alternatively, we may recruit non-banking Trustees 
through open advertising where we feel that additional skills or specialist knowledge would strengthen 
the capabilities of the Board.

New Trustees serve on the same terms as existing Trustees and can confer with more experienced 
Trustees if necessary. They are also provided with an induction programme which is organised to help 
new Trustees understand the governance & reporting framework and their individual & Board 
responsibilities.

All Trustees are encouraged and supported to gain further knowledge and experience from independent 
and external programmes. During 2018/19, for example, one Trustee participated in a Safeguarding Lead 
Development and another an externally run development programme for Trustees. Additionally, all 
Trustees as a group, take part in two development sessions annually which during 2018/19 included 
Safeguarding, Cyber Security, GDPR and Financial Investment leveraging.

There is also an opportunity for new Trustees to engage with current Trustees, members of the senior 
management team and other members of sta�. This enables new Trustees to familiarise themselves with 
the front line service delivery team, financial position, internal controls, policies and future plans.
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Key management personnel

During 2018/19 our key management personnel comprised the Board of Trustees, John Mallalieu (Chief 
Executive O�cer) and, as part of our management restructure three functional heads, Selam Shibru, Ola 
Opoosun and Omair Makhdumi (Finance, Services and Marketing, respectively) who, whilst not being 
Directors of the Charity, were asked to step in as part of the transition to a new management structure 
until two Executive Directors were recruited; the Director of Finance & Support in Q3 and the Director of 
Operations & Marketing in Q4. 

In the current financial year our key management personnel comprises the Board of Trustees, John 
Mallalieu (Chief Executive O�cer), Alan Knowles (Director of Finance & Support) and Simon Ashmore 
(Director of Operations & Marketing).

The Chief Executive O�cer is appointed to manage the day-to-day operations of BWC, supported by a 
team of 29 (27 FTE) sta� who deal with our client delivery, management and promotion, client 
administration, support and finance. The team is also responsible for developing a business plan, the 
annual budget and forecasts which are approved annually and adopted by the Board.

The Board sets the Chief Executive O�cer’s pay using a benchmarking exercise and market indices. 
Other executive pay levels are decided by the Remuneration Committee. All pay levels are compared to 
an external benchmarking process undertaken by Korn Ferry Hay and adjusted accordingly to reflect 
market practice. Trustees are not paid and give their time freely.

There is a non-contractual sta� incentive scheme that pays up to 15% of gross salary for all sta� 
excluding the Chief Executive O�cer and is based upon a blend of organisational and personal objective 
achievements. The Chief Executive O�cer’s bonus is capped at an amount lower than 15% of gross 
salary.

Related parties

There were no related party transactions and, in particular, BWC operates independently of the banks.

Liability of members

BWC is a company limited by guarantee and does not have share capital. In the event of being wound 
up, the liability of each member is limited to 25 pence.

Volunteers

We rely on a large number of contacts in the banking sector, other benevolent funds and social care 
organisations to put us in touch with potential clients. None of these contacts are paid by BWC, although 
some may be paid by other organisations. Other than these persons, co-opted individuals and Trustees, 
we do not use volunteers.
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Trustees’ responsibilities

The Trustees (who are also directors of BWC for the purposes of company law) are responsible for 
preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
Company law requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a 
true and fair view of the state of a�airs of the charitable company and of the incoming resources and 
application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charitable company for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:

The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding 
the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

Observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2015 (FRS 102)

Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements

Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the charitable company will continue in operation.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the Charity’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may di�er from legislation in other jurisdictions.

So far as each of the Trustees at the date of this report is aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Charity’s auditor is unaware. Each Trustee has taken appropriate steps to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Charity’s auditor is also 
aware of it.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the special provisions for small companies under 
Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the Trustees on .....17 July 2019...... and signed on their behalf by;

Tony Ramos, Chair
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BANK WORKERS CHARITY

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BANK WORKERS CHARITY

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of the Bankers Benevolent Fund, operating as Bank Workers Charity
(the 'parent charity') and its subsidiaries (the 'Group') for the year ended 31 March 2019 set out on
pages 29 to 59. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 'The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and of the parent charitable company's affairs as at 31

March 2019 and of the Group's incoming resources and application of resources, including its income
and expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including
the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:
• the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements

is not appropriate; or
• the Trustees have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may

cast significant doubt about the Group's or the parent charitable company's ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BANK WORKERS CHARITY

OTHER INFORMATION

The Trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our Auditors' Report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS PRESCRIBED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
• the information given in the Trustees' Report including the Group Strategic Report for the financial year

for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
• the Trustees' Report and the Group Strategic Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable

legal requirements.

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY EXCEPTION

In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees' Report including the Group
Strategic Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us  to report to you if, in our opinion:
• the parent Charity has not kept adequate and sufficient accounting records, or returns adequate for our

audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent Charity financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF TRUSTEES

As explained more fully in the Trustees' Responsibilities Statement, the Trustees (who are also the directors of
the Charity for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees are responsible for assessing the Group's and the parent
charitable company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees either intend to liquidate the
Group or the parent charitable company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditors' Report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
Auditors' Report.

USE OF OUR REPORT

This report is made solely to the Charity's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Charity's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditors' Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Charity and its
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Sudhir Singh FCA (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of

MHA MacIntyre Hudson

Chartered Accountants & Statutory Auditor

New Bridge Street House 
30-34 New Bridge Street 
London
EC4V 6BJ
Date: 2 August 2019
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BANK WORKERS CHARITY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

Note
2019

£
2019

£
2019

£
2019

£
2018

£
INCOME: 

Donations and subscriptions 2 184,385 39,295 - 223,680 217,854
Investments 3 852,708 1,120,560 - 1,973,268 1,472,978

TOTAL INCOME 1,037,093 1,159,855 - 2,196,948 1,690,832

EXPENDITURE ON: 
Raising funds 5 599,810 4,725 12,303 616,838 596,959
Charitable activities 7 3,599,437 421,864 - 4,021,301 3,808,646

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 4,199,247 426,589 12,303 4,638,139 4,405,605

NET (EXPENDITURE) /
INCOME BEFORE
INVESTMENT
GAINS/(LOSSES) (3,162,154) 733,266 (12,303) (2,441,191) (2,714,773)

Net (losses)/gains on
investments 14 (172,680) 1,856,611 164,565 1,848,496 469,511

NET (EXPENDITURE) /
INCOME BEFORE
TRANSFERS (3,334,834) 2,589,877 152,262 (592,695) (2,245,262)

Transfers between Funds 18 21,325 (21,325) - - -

NET (EXPENDITURE) /
INCOME BEFORE OTHER
RECOGNISED GAINS AND
LOSSES (3,313,509) 2,568,552 152,262 (592,695) (2,245,262)

Extraordinary income 4 - 407,104 - 407,104 38,423,064

NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS (3,313,509) 2,975,656 152,262 (185,591) 36,177,802

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS: 
Total funds brought forward

18
44,941,961 36,968,487 2,560,810 84,471,258 48,293,456

TOTAL FUNDS BROUGHT
FORWARD

41,628,452 39,944,143 2,713,072 84,285,667 84,471,258

All activities derive from continuing activities.

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised during the year.

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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REGISTERED NUMBER: 0019366

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

2019 2018
Note £ £ £ £

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets 13 28,863 89,022
Investments 14 85,305,497 84,664,476

85,334,360 84,753,498

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 15 230,393 257,839
Cash at bank and in hand 834,475 501,547

1,064,868 759,386

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within
one year 16 (1,998,587) (1,041,626)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (933,719) (282,240)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 84,400,641 84,471,258

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after
more than one year 17 (114,974) -

NET ASSETS  84,285,667  84,471,258

GROUP FUNDS
Endowment funds 18 2,713,072 2,560,810
Restricted funds 18 39,944,143 36,968,487
Unrestricted funds 18 41,628,452 44,941,961

TOTAL FUNDS  84,285,667  84,471,258

 The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Trustees 
on 17 July 2019 and signed on their behalf, by:

Tony Ramos, Chair

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form part of these financial statements.
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REGISTERED NUMBER: 0019366

CHARITY BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019

2019 2018
Note £ £ £ £

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets 13 28,863 89,022
Investments 14 82,515,271 82,084,969

82,544,134 82,173,991

CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 15 230,393 257,839
Cash at bank 688,057 350,992

918,450 608,831

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within
one year 16 (1,992,407) (1,035,626)

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (1,073,957) (426,795)

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 81,470,177 81,747,196

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after
more than one year 17 (114,974) -

NET ASSETS  81,355,203  81,747,196

CHARITY FUNDS
Restricted funds 18 39,726,751 36,783,910
Unrestricted funds 18 41,628,452 44,963,286

TOTAL FUNDS  81,355,203  81,747,196

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Trustees 
on 17 July 2019 signed on their behalf, by:

Tony Ramos, Chair

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

        2019         2018
Note         £         £

Cash flow from operating activities
Net cash outflow from operating activities 22 (3,254,919) (4,099,151)

Cash flow from investing activities:
Dividends and interest from investments 3 1,973,268 1,472,978
Cash movement on investments (1,912,310) (505,464)
Receipts from sale of investments 14 97,382,745 21,413,979
Payments to acquire investments 14 (94,262,960) (18,779,964)

Net cash inflow from investing activities 3,180,743 3,601,529

Cash flow from financing activities:
Cash and cash equivalents for extraordinary items 407,104 957,039

Net cash inflow from financing activities 407,104 957,039

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 332,928 459,417
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 501,547 42,130

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 23 834,475 501,547

 The notes on pages 33 to 59 form part of these financial statements.
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BANK WORKERS CHARITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1.1 General information and basis of preparation

The Bankers Benevolent Fund ("Group") is a charitable company limited by guarantee and is
registered with the Charity Commission (Charity Registered Number 0313080) and Registrar of
Companies (Company Registration Number 0019366) in England and Wales.  In the event of the
Group being wound up, the liability in respect of the guarantee is limited to 25p per member of the
Group.  The address of the registered office is given in the Group information on page 1 of these
financial statements.  The nature of the Group's operations and principal activities are the prevention
and relief of poverty amongst bank employees, their families, children and dependents; the
advancement of health amongst bank employees, their families, children and dependents; and the
advancement of education amongst the children of bank employees.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland (FRS 102) (effective 1 January 2015) - (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and the Companies Act 2006.

The Group constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102. The financial statements are
prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain
items at fair value.  The financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional and
presentational currency of the Group and rounded to the nearest pound.

The Charity has applied FRS 102 Update Bulletin 1 (as published on 2 February 2016) and FRS 102
Update Bulletin 2 (as published on 5 October 2018).

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise
stated.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The subsidiaries of the Charity are the SE Foundation (SEF) (registered charity number 277665), the
RBS PeopleCharity (RBSPC) (registered charity number 1154235) and BWC Enterprises Limited, a
wholly owned trading subsidiary.

The financial statements consolidate the accounts of Bank Workers Charity (BWC) 'the Charity' and
all of its subsidiary undertakings ('subsidiaries') on a line by line basis.

The Charity has taken advantage of the exemption contained within section 408 of the Companies
Act 2006 not to present its own Income and Expenditure Account.

The Charity's Income and Expenditure account for the year dealt with in the accounts of the Charity
was a £391,993 deficit (2018: £33,842,201 surplus).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.3 Funds

General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in
furtherance of the general objectives of the Group and which have not been designated for other
purposes.

Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees for
particular purposes. The aim and use of each designated fund is set out in the notes to the financial
statements.

Restricted funds are funds which are to be used in accordance with specific restrictions imposed by
donors or which have been raised by the Group for particular purposes. The costs of raising and
administering such funds are charged against the specific fund. The aim and use of each restricted
fund is set out in the notes to the financial statements.

The endowment funds represent those assets which must be held permanently by the Group. As at
31 March 2019, they comprise the funds of the SE Foundation (SEF) and of the RBS PeopleCharity
(RBSPC).

The SEF endowed funds are permanent, meaning that the capital of the fund must be maintained
and that income generated from it can only be spent on SEF’s charitable objectives, being for
current and former employees of Barclays Bank and their dependents. The arrangement is in line
with the plan to maintain SEF for the purposes of receiving any future legacies and to hold the
permanently endowed fund.

Income generated from the endowment fund is held as a restricted fund and is applied for the
objects of SEF and only applied for SEF’s beneficiaries.

The Group is the sole corporate trustee of the RBSPC. RBSPC’s endowed funds are permanent in
the same way as SEF - the capital of the fund must be maintained and income generated from it can
only be spent on RBSPC’s charitable objectives. These are the relief of financial need, hardship or
distress of people within the beneficial class, restricted to employees and former employees, and
their dependents of the Royal Bank of Scotland Group of companies; any former constituent banks
of the Royal Bank of Scotland plc (RBS) or National Westminster Bank plc (NatWest) and any
persons who were employed by a company at the time that such a company was part of the group of
companies of which NatWest or RBS was a member even though that company may have since
ceased to be part of that group, and their dependents. 

The permanent endowment fund of the RBSPC represents the accumulated funds of the RBS
PeopleCharity Friendly Help Fund.

The restricted fund of the RBSPC represents income generated from the endowment fund as well as
funds restricted to the maintenance of care homes. As the care homes are now closed, the object of
the fund is obsolete. BWC has thus decided to consolidate the restricted fund and widen its object to
those of the permanent endowment fund.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.4 Income recognition

All incoming resources are included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities (SOFA)
when the Group is legally entitled to the income after any performance conditions have been met,
the amount can be measured reliably and it is probable that the income will be received.

Individual subscriptions and corporate donations are included within income when these are
receivable.  If there are conditions attached to the donation and this requires a level of performance
before entitlement can be obtained then income is deferred until those conditions are fully met or the
fulfillment of those conditions is within the control of the Group and it is probable that they will be
fulfilled. 

No amount is included in the financial statements for volunteer time in line with the SORP (FRS
102). Further detail is given in the Trustees’ Annual Report. 

For legacies, entitlement is the earlier of the Group being notified of an impending distribution
(typically when probate is granted) or the legacy being received. At this point income is recognised.
On occasion legacies will be notified to the Group however it is not possible to measure reliably the
amount expected to be distributed. On these occasions, the legacy is treated as a contingent asset
and disclosed.

Investment income is earned through holding assets for investment purposes such as shares and
property. It includes dividends and interest. Where it is not practicable to identify investment
management costs incurred within a scheme with reasonable accuracy the investment income is
reported net of these costs. It is included when the amount can be measured reliably. Interest
income is recognised using the effective interest method and dividend and rent income is
recognised as the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when received and the amount can be measured
reliably by the Group; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or payable by the Bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.5 Expenditure recognition

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that
aggregate all costs related to the category. Expenditure is recognised where there is a legal or
constructive obligation to make payments to third parties, it is probable that the settlement will be
required and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. It is categorised under the
following headings:

• Expenditure on raising funds includes costs incurred seeking voluntary contributions and
investment management costs;

• Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs incurred on furthering the objects of the
Group; and

• Other expenditure represents those items not falling into the categories above

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as an expense against the activity for which expenditure arose. 

Grants payable to third parties are within the charitable objectives. Where unconditional grants are
offered, this is accrued as soon as the recipient is notified of the grant, as this gives rise to a
reasonable expectation that the recipient will receive the grants. Where grants are conditional
relating to performance then the grant is only accrued when any unfulfilled conditions are outside of
the control of the Group. 

Both legal and constructive obligations are recognised, including multi-year commitments which are
disclosed as long-term liabilties where appropriate.

1.6 Support cost allocation

Support costs are those that assist the work of the Group but do not directly represent charitable
activities and include office costs, governance costs, administrative and payroll costs. They are
incurred directly in support of expenditure on the objects of the Charity and include project
management.  Where support costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have
been allocated to raising funds and expenditure on charitable activities on a basis consistent with
use of the resources as follows;

• Staff costs - Estimate of how staff spend time
• Premises and utilities - Pro rata to staff cost allocation
• Services and other operating expenses - Actual and estimated usage
• Professional fees - Actual cost
• Depreciation - Pro rata to staff cost allocation

Fundraising costs are those incurred in seeking voluntary contributions and do not include the costs
of disseminating information in support of the charitable activities.

The analysis of these costs is included in Note 8.

1.7 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation

All assets costing more than £5,000 are capitalised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Tangible fixed assets are carried at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated
residual value, over their expected useful lives on the following basis:

Leasehold improvements - 3 years straight line
Fixtures and fittings - 3 years straight line

1.8 Investments

The Group has equity investments in listed and unlisted entities.  Social investments include mixed
motive investments and programme related investments which are those held to further charitable
purposes and are held at cost less impairment.  Fixed asset investments are a form of basic
financial instruments and are initially recognised at their transaction value and subsequently
measured at fair value using the closing quoted market price or the share of the Net Asset Value of
the fund (if unlisted). All gains and losses are taken to the SOFA as they arise.

The SOFA includes the net gains and losses arising on revaluations and disposals throughout the
year, as investments are revalued to fair value continuously.

The Group does not have holdings of complex financial instruments, such financial instruments are
measured in accordance with the accounting policy 1.16.

1.9 Leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged to the SOFA on a straight line basis over the lease
term.

1.10 Debtors and creditors receivable / payable within one year

Debtors are recognised when the Group is legally entitled to the income after any performance
conditions have been met, the amount can be measured reliably and it is probable that the income
will be received.

Creditors are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation resulting
from a past event and the settlement is expected to result in an outflow of economic benefits.

1.11 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the
amount can be reliably estimated.

1.12 Loan grants

Where payments for property alterations are made as repayable interest free loans but the date on
which repayment is due to be made, under the terms of the loan, is unknown at the balance sheet
date the loan is treated as a grant in the year of payment, where made either in full or as
installments.  These payments are charged to the SOFA in the year they are made and no debtor is
recognised as these represent contingent assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.13 Employee benefits

When employees have rendered service to the Group, short-term employee benefits to which the
employees are entitled are recognised at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid in exchange
for that service.

The Group operates a non-contributory pension arrangement providing a contribution of 10% of
salary into a qualifying company workplace pension plan.  Contributions are expensed to the SOFA
as they become payable.

1.14 Taxation

BWC is a registered Charity and is exempt from tax under the provisions of the Corporation Tax Act
2010 on its charitable activities.

1.15 Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Trustees believe that
no material uncertainties exist. The Trustees have considered the level of funds held and the
expected level of income and expenditure for 12 months from authorising these financial statements.
The budgeted income and expenditure is sufficient with the level of reserves for the Group to be able
to continue as a going concern.

1.16 Financial instruments

As detailed in Note 1.8 the Group does not have holdings in complex financial instruments.  The
Group holds basic financial instruments. The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
as follows:

Debtors – trade and other debtors (including accrued income) are basic financial instruments and
are debt instruments measured at amortised cost as detailed in Note 15. Prepayments are not
financial instruments. 

Cash at bank – is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at cost.

Liabilities – trade creditors, accruals and other creditors will be classified as financial instruments,
and are measured at amortised cost as detailed in Note 16. Taxation and social security are not
included in the financial instruments disclosure. Deferred income is not deemed to be a financial
liability, as in the cash settlement has already taken place and there is simply an obligation to deliver
charitable services rather than cash or another financial instrument. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.17 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The following judgements (apart from those involving estimates) have been made in the process of
applying the above accounting policies that have had the most significant effect on amounts
recognised in the financial statements.

• Basis of valuation of financial investments
• Allocation of support costs
• Fair value of Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund (BOBF) transferred into BWC at 1 April 

2018.
• Value of the Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund (BOBF) recognised in the accounts at the 

year end.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

2. INCOME FROM DONATIONS AND SUBSCRIPTIONS

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2018
£

Individual subscriptions and
donations 90,926 - - 90,926 72,330

Corporate donations 30,000 - - 30,000 30,682
Legacies 63,459 - - 63,459 82,450
SEF donations - 10,047 - 10,047 12,863
RBSPC donations - 29,248 - 29,248 19,529

Total 2019  184,385  39,295  -  223,680  217,854

Total 2018  183,797  34,057  -  217,854

As noted in section 1.4 of the Accounting Policies, subscriptions and donations are recognised on a
received basis.

3. INCOME FROM INVESTMENTS

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2018
£

Dividends and interest on
equities 847,843 1,117,177 - 1,965,020 1,468,631

Social investment income 4,682 - - 4,682 4,006
Bank interest received 183 3,383 - 3,566 341

Total 2019  852,708  1,120,560  -  1,973,268  1,472,978

Total 2018  805,048  667,930  -  1,472,978
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

4. EXTRAORDINARY INCOME

Unrestricted
funds
2019

£

Restricted
funds
2019

£

Endowment
funds
2019

£

Total
funds
2019

£

Total
funds
2018

£
Donation of RBSPC funds - - - - 36,061,298
Control of RBSPC assets - - - - 2,361,766
Donation of BOBF - 407,104 - 407,104 -

Total 2019 - 407,104 - 407,104  38,423,064

Total 2018 - 36,196,911  2,226,153  38,423,064

On 3rd April 2018, BWC received a cash sum of £146,729 from the Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund
(BOBF) and an additional £475,893 cash top up from Barclays Bank Plc to take over and maintain
BOBF's future grant commitments. BWC took over the liabilities to BOBF's beneficiaries as at this date,
the fair value of which amounted to £215,518. The net amount has been included as a restricted source
of extraordinary income. 

At 30 June 2017, the assets of the RBSPC’s unrestricted fund were donated in their entirety to Bank
Workers Charity under a formal Deed of Donation. The value of the net assets donated to Bank Workers
Charity amounted to £36,061,298.

In 2018, following the amendment of the RBSPC constitution, BWC was appointed as sole corporate
trustee of the newly reconstituted Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO). This resulted in control
passing of the remaining restricted and endowment funds totalling £2,361,766.

5. EXPENDITURE ON RAISING FUNDS

        2019
        £

        2018
        £

Investment management costs (Note 6) 502,623 488,363
Staff costs 32,177 33,053
Direct costs 3,781 9,393
Support costs 78,257 66,150

Total 616,838 596,959

In 2019, of the total expenditure on raising funds, £599,810 (2018: £431,366) was from unrestricted
funds, £4,725 (2018: £156,281) was from restricted funds and £12,303 (2018: £9,312) was from
endowment funds.  

In 2019 all expenditure on staff costs was related to support expenditure.  In 2018, of the total
expenditure on staff costs, £22,035 related to direct expenditure and £11,018 related to support
expenditure.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

6. INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT COSTS

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

Total
funds

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2018
£

Investment manager fees
payable 476,903 4,725 12,303 493,931 478,285

Consultancy fees 8,692 - - 8,692 10,078

Total 2019 485,595 4,725 12,303 502,623 488,363

Total 2018 322,816 156,235 9,312 488,363

In 2018, of the total expenditure on investment manager fees, £315,331 was from unrestricted funds,
£153,642 was from restricted funds and £9,312 was from endowment funds.

In 2018, of the total expenditure on consultancy fees, £7,485 was from unrestricted funds and £2,593 was
from restricted funds.

7. EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES - CURRENT YEAR

Activities
undertaken

directly
Support

costs Total Total
2019

£
2019

£
2019

£
2018

£

Cash grants 937,012 851,821 1,788,833 2,006,254
Service provision and casework 1,043,125 492,660 1,535,785 785,882
Operating costs for client support 180,163 516,520 696,683 1,016,510

Total 2019  2,160,300  1,861,001 4,021,301 3,808,646

Total 2018 2,082,585 1,726,061 3,808,646

Total support costs are analysed in Note 8.

All cash grants are paid to individuals.
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EXPENDITURE ON CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES - PRIOR YEAR

Activities
undertaken

directly
2018

£

Support
costs
2018

£

Total
2018

£
Cash grants   1,246,794   759,460   2,006,254
Service provision and casework   337,104   448,778   785,882
Operating costs for client support   498,687   517,823   1,016,510

      
Total 2018   2,082,585   1,726,061   3,808,646

In 2018, of the total expenditure on charitable activities, £3,388,207 was from unrestricted funds and
£420,439 was from restricted funds.

8. ANALYSIS OF TOTAL EXPENDITURE ON SUPPORT COSTS - CURRENT YEAR

Raising
funds Cash grants

Service
provision

and
casework

Operating
costs for

client
support

Total
2019

Total
2018

£ £ £ £ £ £
Other

employment
costs - 58,950 34,835 40,194 133,979 71,020

Premises and
utilities 78,257 115,276 68,117 78,597 340,247 298,907

Business
overheads - 63,968 32,243 37,201 133,412 92,136

ICT costs - 28,820 17,031 19,651 65,502 47,237
Marketing costs - 14,994 8,860 10,223 34,077 40,657
Professional fees - 23,183 13,699 15,806 52,688 13,870
Governance

costs - 64,291 37,990 43,835 146,116 128,420
Merger and

strategy costs - - - - - 44,495
Social investment

costs - - - - - 8,064
Support staff

costs 32,177 455,870 264,243 252,965 1,005,255 998,263
Depreciation - 26,469 15,642 18,048 60,159 60,160

Total 2019  110,434  851,821  492,660  516,520  1,971,435  1,803,229

Total 2018  77,168  759,460  448,778  517,823  1,803,229
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ANALYSIS OF TOTAL EXPENDITURE ON SUPPORT COSTS - PRIOR YEAR

Raising
funds

£

Cash grants
£

Service
provision

and
casework

£

Operating
costs for

client
support

£

Total
2018

£

Other employment costs - 31,249 18,465 21,306 71,020
Premises and utilities 66,150 102,413 60,517 69,827 298,907
Business overheads - 40,536 23,956 27,644 92,136
ICT costs - 20,784 12,281 14,172 47,237
Marketing costs - 17,889 10,571 12,197 40,657
Professional fees - 6,103 3,606 4,161 13,870
Governance costs - 56,504 33,390 38,526 128,420
Merger and strategy costs - 19,577 11,569 13,349 44,495
Social investment costs - 3,548 2,097 2,419 8,064
Support staff costs 11,018 434,387 256,684 296,174 998,263
Depreciation - 26,470 15,642 18,048 60,160

Total 2018 77,168 759,460 448,778 517,823 1,803,229

9. GOVERNANCE COSTS

        2019
        £

        2018
        £

Auditors' remuneration - Audit of the financial statements 17,940 17,400
Auditors' remuneration - Audit of the financial statements

(RBSPC) 6,180 21,660
Auditors' remuneration - Other services - 5,400
Internal audit 28,904 24,982
Legal and Professional Fees 81,846 42,469
Trustees' out of pocket expenses 1,289 2,660
Trustee meetings and training 9,957 13,849

146,116 128,420
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10. NET INCOME/EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR

This is stated after charging/(crediting):

        2019         2018
        £         £

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets:
- owned by the charitable group 60,159 60,160

Auditors' remuneration - Audit of the financial statements 17,940 17,400
Auditors' remuneration - Audit of the financial statements

(RBSPC) 6,180 21,660
Auditors' remuneration - Other services - 5,400
Internal audit 28,904 24,982
Operating lease rentals 257,487 257,487
Net (gains) on investments (1,848,496) (469,511)
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11. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION AND TRUSTEES' EXPENSES

The Trustees neither received nor waived any remuneration during the year (2018: £Nil).

The total amount of employee benefits, including employers national insurance contributions, received by
Key Management Personnel is £374,467 (2018: £347,977).  In 2019, the Group's Key Management
Personnel comprise:

• Trustees
• Chief Executive
• Head of Finance & IT(1)

• Head of Services(1)

• Senior Communication & Marketing Manager(1)

(1)Although not Executive Directors these personnel were asked to step in as part of a transition to a new
management structure and assumed additional key responsibilities until the appointment of two Executive
Directors during the third and fourth quarters of the 2018-19 financial year.

4 Trustees (2018: 5) were reimbursed for their travelling and other out of pocket expenses (where they
were not claimable from another source) totaling £1,289 (2018: £2,660).

12. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs were as follows:

        2019         2018
        £         £

Wages and salaries 1,340,218 1,268,905
Social security costs 120,105 126,166
Other pension costs 119,136 111,482

1,579,459 1,506,553

The average number of persons employed by the Charity during the year was as follows: 

        2019         2018
            No.             No.

Average weekly number of employees 29 27

The number of higher paid employees was:

        2019         2018
            No.             No.

In the band £60,001 - £70,000 2 2
In the band £70,001 - £80,000 1 1
In the band £160,001 - £170,000 0 1
In the band £170,001 - £180,000 1 0

Page 46



 
BANK WORKERS CHARITY

 

 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

13. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Leasehold
improve-

ments
Fixtures and

fittings Total
Group and Charity £ £ £
Cost 

At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 113,541 66,938 180,479

Depreciation
At 1 April 2018 57,731 33,726 91,457
Charge for the year 37,846 22,313 60,159

At 31 March 2019 95,577 56,039 151,616

Net book value
At 31 March 2019  17,964  10,899  28,863

At 31 March 2018  55,810  33,212  89,022
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14. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS - CURRENT YEAR

Investments
Social

investments
Total
2019

Group £ £ £
Valuation
At 1 April 2018 84,034,184 630,292 84,664,476
Additions at cost 94,088,757 174,203 94,262,960
Disposals at carrying value (97,382,745) - (97,382,745)
Revaluations 1,848,496 - 1,848,496
Cash transferred 2,314,278 - 2,314,278
Investment management costs paid via the portfolio (401,968) - (401,968)

At 31 March 2019  84,501,002 804,495  85,305,497

Included within investments above are unlisted investments of £4,313,320 (2018: £2,154,892).

It is our policy to consider social investments that fit with the objectives of the Group as well as delivering 
an acceptable level of financial and social return. Details are set out in the Trustees' Annual Report page 
17.

The high volume of additions and disposals reflect the fact that significant tranche of the investment 
portfolio was transferred from one fund manager to another during the year.

Investments
Social

investments
Total
2019

Charity £ £ £
Valuation
At 1 April 2018 81,454,677 630,292 82,084,969
Additions at cost 93,759,180 174,203 93,933,383
Disposals at carrying value (97,025,088) - (97,025,088)
Revaluations 1,683,931 - 1,683,931
Cash transferred 2,225,041 - 2,225,041
Investment management costs paid via the portfolio (386,965) - (386,965)

At 31 March 2019  81,710,776 804,495  82,515,271

Included within investments above are unlisted investments of £4,178,402 (2018: £2,094,207).
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FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS - PRIOR YEAR

Investments
£

Social
investments

£

Total
2018

£
Group

Valuation
At 1 April 2017   48,372,090 374,413 48,746,503
Additions at cost   18,799,964 255,879 19,055,843
Disposals at carrying value   (21,413,979) - (21,413,979)
Revaluations 469,511 - 469,511
Cash transferred 580,140 - 580,140
Investment management costs paid via the portfolio (330,555) - (330,555)
Transfers in from RBSPC   37,557,013 - 37,557,013

At 31 March 2018  84,034,184 630,292  84,664,476

Investments
£

Social
investments

£

Total
2018

£
Charity

Valuation
At 1 April 2017   48,032,928 374,413 48,407,341
Additions at cost   18,365,903 255,879 18,621,782
Disposals at carrying value   (21,023,694) - (21,023,694)
Revaluations 454,264 - 454,264
Cash transferred 603,310 - 603,310
Investment management costs paid via the portfolio (326,362) - (326,362)
Transfers in from RBSPC   35,348,328 - 35,348,328

At 31 March 2018  81,454,677 630,292  82,084,969

15. DEBTORS

Group Charity

2019 2018 2019 2018
£ £ £ £

Other debtors 148,834 148,226 148,834 148,226
Prepayments and accrued income 81,559 109,613 81,559 109,613

230,393 257,839 230,393 257,839

In 2018 and 2019 other debtors include a deposit paid for premises of £139k.
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16. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

Group Charity

As restated As restated
2019 2018 2019 2018

£ £ £ £
Bank overdraft 975,000 - 975,000 -
Trade creditors 114,266 117,936 114,266 117,936
Other taxation and social security 54,991 48,823 54,991 48,823
Grants payable
Other creditors

322,234
61,261

323,047
13,152

322,234
55,081

323,047
7,152

Accruals 470,835 538,668 470,835 538,668

1,998,587 1,041,626 1,992,407 1,035,626

Other creditors are significant due to the inclusion of a lease incentive granted to the Charity on moving to
its premises.  This lease incentive has been spread across the life of the lease.

In 2018 and 2019 Grants payable includes the RBSPC Winter Fuel Payments and, in 2019, commitments
to BOBF beneficiaries.

On 18th October 2018, the Charity undertook a credit facility from UBS for £5,000,000. A deed of charge
is in place on the investment funds held by UBS which secures the loan, at a cost of 1.5% fixed margin
over the overnight LIBOR.

During the year, the Charity made a total drawdown of £975,000 against this facility. 

17. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Charity

2019 2018 2019 2018
£ £ £ £

Grants payable 114,974 - 114,974 -
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18. FUND RECONCILIATION - GROUP

STATEMENT OF FUNDS - CURRENT YEAR

Balance at
1 April 2018 Income Expenditure

Transfers
in/out

Extraordin-
ary income
and Gains/

(Losses)

Balance at
31 March

2019
£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds
Social investments - Paid

up 630,292 - - 174,203 - 804,495
Social investments -

Available 1,369,708 - - (174,203) - 1,195,505

2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000

Unrestricted funds
General Funds 42,941,961 1,037,093 (4,199,247) 21,325 (172,680) 39,628,452

Total Unrestricted funds 44,941,961 1,037,093 (4,199,247) 21,325 (172,680) 41,628,452

Endowment funds

SEF 328,782 - (309) - 9,488 337,961
RBSPC 2,232,028 - (11,994) - 155,077 2,375,111

2,560,810 - (12,303) - 164,565 2,713,072

Restricted funds

SEF 361,241 110,790 (51,399) - 11,210 431,842
RBSPC 36,607,246 1,049,065 (375,190) (21,325) 1,845,401 39,105,197
BOBF - - - - 407,104 407,104

36,968,487 1,159,855 (426,589) (21,325) 2,263,715 39,944,143

Total of funds  84,471,258  2,196,948  (4,638,139) - 2,255,600  84,285,667
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18. FUND RECONCILIATION - GROUP (continued)

Designated funds comprise unrestricted funds that have been set aside by the Trustees specifically for
the purpose of social investment. This provides the Trustees with the opportunity to increase the Charity's
overall social impact whilst achieving a financial return and furthering its own objects at the same time.

General funds are unrestricted funds which are available for use at the discretion of the Trustees in
furtherance of the general objectives of the Group and which have not been designated for other
purposes.

Endowment funds represent those assets which must be permanently held by the Group and are
accounted for in accordance with note 1.3. They comprise the funds of the SE Foundation and the funds
of the RBS PC Friendly Help Fund since 30 June 2017.  Income arising on the endowment funds can be
used in accordance with the objects of the funds and is included as restricted income. Any capital gains
or losses arising on the investments form part of the fund.

Restricted funds and are accounted for in accordance with accounting policy 1.3, the aim and use of
each restricted fund is summarised as follows:

SEF’s unrestricted assets were transferred to BWC by deed of gift on 23rd October 2015 and are held as
a restricted fund for the objects of SEF which is, the relief of persons in conditions of need, hardship or
distress who are Barclays employees or Barclays retired employees and of any dependants of such
Barclays employees or Barclays retired employees.

The RBSPC’s unrestricted assets were transferred to BWC by deed of donation on 30th June 2017 and
are held as a restricted fund for the relief of financial need, hardship or distress of people within the
beneficial class, restricted to employees and former employees, and their dependents of the Royal Bank
of Scotland Group of companies; any former constituent banks of the Royal Bank of Scotland plc (RBS)
or National Westminster Bank plc (NatWest) and any persons who were employed by a company at the
time that such a company was part of the group of companies of which NatWest or RBS was a member
even though that company may have since ceased to be part of that group, and their dependents.

BWC received a cash sum of £146,729 from Barclays Overseas Benevolent Fund (BOBF) and £475,893
from Barclays Bank plc on 3 April 2018. BWC will hold the BOBF and Barclays funds upon trust and they
will be held as Restricted Funds. Surplus funds will only be spent on current and former Barclays
employees and their families, and within the objects which were covered in the Deed of Donation. 
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18. FUND RECONCILIATION - GROUP (continued)

STATEMENT OF FUNDS - PRIOR YEAR

Balance at
1 April 2017 Income Expenditure

Transfers
in/out

Extraordin-
ary income
and Gains/

(Losses)

Balance at
31 March

2018
£ £ £ £ £ £

Designated funds
Social investments - Paid

up 374,413 - - 255,879 - 630,292
Social investments -

Available 625,587 - - 744,121 - 1,369,708

1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 2,000,000

Unrestricted funds
General Funds 46,557,391 988,845 (3,819,573) (1,000,000) 215,298 42,941,961

Total Unrestricted funds 47,557,391 988,845 (3,819,573) - 215,298 44,941,961

Endowment funds

SEF 328,722 - (179) - 239 328,782
RBSPC - 2,226,153 (9,133) - 15,008 2,232,028

Restricted funds

SEF 407,343 23,438 (73,717) - 4,177 361,241
RBSPC - 36,875,460 (503,003) - 234,789 36,607,246

Total of funds  48,293,456  40,113,896  (4,405,605)  -  469,511  84,471,258
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19. FUND RECONCILIATION - CHARITY

STATEMENT OF FUNDS - CURRENT YEAR

Balance at
1 April 2018

£
Income

£
Expenditure

£

Transfers
in/out

£

Gains/
(Losses)

£

Balance at
31 March

2019
£

Designated
funds

Social
investments
- Paid up   630,292   -   -   174,203   -   804,495

Social
investments
- Available   1,369,708   -   -   (174,203)   -   1,195,505

Unrestricted
funds

  
  2,000,000
  

  
  -
  

  
  -
  

  
  -
  

  
  -
  

  
  2,000,000
  

General Funds   42,963,286   1,037,093   (4,199,247)   -   (172,680)   39,628,452

Total
Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

  
  44,963,286
  

  
  1,037,093
  

  
  (4,199,247)
  

  
  -
  

  
  (172,680)
  

  
  41,628,452
  

SEF   357,151   105,538   (51,399)   -   11,210   422,500
RBSPC   36,426,759   980,782   (355,795)   -   1,845,401   38,897,147
BOBF   -   407,104   -   -   -   407,104

  
  36,783,910
  

  
  1,493,424
  

  
  (407,194)
  

  
  -
  

  
  1,856,611
  

  
  39,726,751
  

            
Total   81,747,196   2,530,517   (4,606,441)   -   1,683,931   81,355,203
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STATEMENT OF FUNDS - PRIOR YEAR

Balance at
1 April 2017

£
Income

£
Expenditure

£

Transfers
in/out

£

Gains/
(Losses)

£

Balance at
31 March

2018
£

Designated
funds

Social
investments
- Paid up   374,413   -   -   255,879   -   630,292

Social
investments
- Available   625,587   -   -   744,121   -   1,369,708

Unrestricted
funds

  
  1,000,000
  

  
  -
  

  
  -
  

  
  1,000,000
  

  
  -
  

  
  2,000,000
  

General Funds   46,557,391   988,845   (3,798,248)   (1,000,000)   215,298   42,963,286

Total
Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

  
  47,557,391
  

  
  988,845
  

  
  (3,798,248)
  

  
  -
  

  
  215,298
  

  
  44,963,286
  

SEF   407,343   19,348   (73,717)   -   4,177   357,151
RBSPC   -   36,739,847   (503,003)   -   189,915   36,426,759
BOBF   -   -   -   -   -   -

  
  407,343
  

  
  36,759,195
  

  
  (576,720)
  

  
  -
  

  
  194,092
  

  
  36,783,910
  

            
Total   47,964,734   37,748,040   (4,374,968)   -   409,390   81,747,196
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20. NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - GROUP

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - CURRENT YEAR

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

2019
£

Tangible fixed assets 28,863 - - 28,863
Fixed asset investments 42,648,282 39,944,143 2,713,072 85,305,497
Current assets 1,064,868 - - 1,064,868
Creditors due within one year (1,998,587) - - (1,998,587)
Creditors due in more than one year (114,974) - - (114,974)

 41,628,452  39,944,143  2,713,072  84,285,667

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - PRIOR YEAR

Unrestricted
funds

Restricted
funds

Endowment
funds

Total
funds

2018
£

2018
£

2018
£

2018
£

Tangible fixed assets 89,022 - - 89,022
Fixed asset investments 44,877,318 37,392,227 2,394,931 84,664,476
Current assets 438,598 148,909 171,879 759,386
Creditors due within one year (462,977) (572,649) (6,000) (1,041,626)

 44,941,961  36,968,487  2,560,810  84,471,258

21. NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - CHARITY

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - CURRENT YEAR

Unrestricted
funds

£

Restricted
funds

£

Endowment
funds

£
2019

£
Tangible fixed assets   28,863   -   -   28,863
Fixed asset investments   42,682,058   39,833,213   -   82,515,271
Current assets   918,450   -   -   918,450
Creditors due within one year   (1,992,407)   -   -   (1,992,407)
Creditors due in more than one year   (114,974)   -   -   (114,974)

        
Total   41,521,990   39,833,213   -   81,355,203
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ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS - PRIOR YEAR

Unrestricted
funds

£

Restricted
funds

£

Endowment
funds

£
2018

£
Tangible fixed assets   89,022   -   -   89,022
Fixed asset investments   45,301,093   36,783,876   -   82,084,969
Current assets   608,797   34   -   608,831
Creditors due within one year   (1,035,626)   -   -   (1,035,626)

        
Total   44,963,286   36,783,910   -   81,747,196

22. RECONCILIATION OF NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Group
        2019         2018

        £         £

Net expenditure for the year (as per Statement of Financial Activities) (592,695) (2,245,262)

Adjustment for:
Depreciation charges 60,159 60,160
(Gains) / losses on investments (1,848,496) (469,511)
Dividends and interest from investments (1,973,268) (1,472,978)
Decrease/(increase) in debtors 27,446 (75,940)
Increase in creditors 1,071,935 215,368
Non-cash items received as extraordinary income - (110,988)

Net cash used in operating activities  (3,254,919)  (4,099,151)

23. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group
        2019         2018

        £         £
Cash in hand 834,475 501,547

Total  834,475  501,547

24. PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group contributes into a qualifying workplace pension plan.  The amount recognised as an expense
in the year was £119,136 (2018: £111,482). There were no contributions payable at 31 March 2019 or 31
March 2018.
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25. LOAN GRANTS

At 31 March 2019 loan grants totalling £270,003 (2018: £270,003) have been made repayable only on the
death of the beneficiary, or beneficiaries (who are husband and wife) or if they move from the property
concerned. There were no repayments during the year (2018: £5,000).

26. LEASES

At 31 March 2019 the total of the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases was:

2019 2018
Group and Charity £ £
Amounts payable:
Within 1 year 257,487 257,487
Between 1 and 5 years 1,027,447 1,028,518
After more than 5 years  614,933  871,348

In August 2016 the Group took out a 10 year operating lease for their premises.

The breakdown of these lease commitments is as follows:
 

Group and Charity 2019
£

Land and
buildings

2019
£

Equipment

2018
£

Land and
buildings

2018
£

Equipment

Amounts payable:
Within 1 year   256,416   1,071   256,416   1,071
Between 1 and 5 years   1,025,661   1,786   1,025,661   2,857
After more than 5 years   614,933   -   871,348   -

        

Total   1,897,010   2,857   2,153,425   3,928

27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than Trustee and Key Management Personnel transactions detailed in Note 11, as noted below,
there were no related party transactions during the year (2018: £Nil).

The CEO received a loan in the year leaving a debtor of £2,495 (2018: £2,409) at the year end.
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28. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

BWC is the sole corporate Trustee of SEF (registered charity number 277665).  Under the terms of the
Deed of Donation, the unrestricted funds of SEF are restricted in the funds of BWC.  SEF remains as a
wholly owned subsidiary under the umbrella of the endowment funds. It did not trade during the year. 

BWC Enterprises Limited is a wholly owned trading subsidiary of the Bank Workers Charity and was
registered on 15 August 2015 in England & Wales under company number 09734550 with £100 ordinary
shares of £1 each.

In June 2017 the RBSPC agreed to merge with BWC and signed a deed of donation whereby the
unrestricted funds of the RBSPC were donated to BWC on 30 June 2017. The Trustees then amended
the constitution of the CIO to enable them to appoint BWC as Sole Corporate Trustee. Due to
administrative delays, the appointment of BWC’s corporate trusteeship took place on 22 August 2017,
slightly later than the merger date.

As part of the merger and transfer of assets, it was decided to transfer the Unrestricted Fund of the
RBSPC to BWC in furtherance of RBSPC’s objects in accordance with the terms the agreement.

RBSPC still remains in existence post-merger to hold the Restricted Fund and the Friendly Help Fund
and to receive any future legacies and funds together with a number of remainder interests due, which
are subject to prior life interests. It is important to note that the merger did not involve a subordination of
the RBSPC's beneficiaries into a larger beneficial class whereby its assets may be used for people
outside the scope of the objects. Rather, the assets of the RBSPC are maintained within BWC as a
Restricted Fund which may be applied only for the present class of beneficiaries who may benefit under
the objects of the CIO.

On 3rd April 2018, BWC received a cash sum of £146,729 from the BOBF and an additional £475,893
cash top up from Barclays Bank Plc to take over and maintain BOBF's future grant commitments. The
charity took over the liabilities to BOBF's beneficiaries as at this date, the fair value of which amounted to
£215,518. The net amount has been included as a restricted source of extraordinary income. 

BWC will hold the BOBF and Barclays funds upon trust and these will be held as Restricted Funds by
BWC. Any surplus funds left in the future will be spent on the restricted use of the current and former
employees of Barclays and their families, and within the objects which were covered within the Deed of
Donation.

Following the transfer of assets, the BOBF charity has been wound up by its trustees. 
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